IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 16-1896

KAITLYN JOHNSON,
Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

HUMBOLDT COUNTY, IOWA,
Defendant-Appellee; and

SANDRA BECKER, Individually
and as Executor of the Estate
of Donald E. Becker,
Defendant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR HUMBOLDT
COUNTY, THE HONORABLE KURT J. STOEBE, PRESIDING JUDGE

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Conrad F. Meis
Buchanan, Bibler,
Gabor & Meis
111 North Dodge Street
P.O. Box 617
Algona, Iowa 50511
Telephone: 515-295-3565
Facsimile: 515-295-2158
E-mail: cfm@buchlaw.com

Michael K. Bush
John C. Bush
Bush, Motto, Creen, Koury &
Halligan, P.L.C.
5505 Victoria Ave., Suite 100

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Introduction

Brown v. Jefferson County, 16 Iowa 339 (Iowa 1864)
Clark v. Sioux County, 159 N.W. 664 (Iowa 1916)
Ehlinger v. State, 237 N.W.2d 784 (Iowa 1976)
Estate of McFarlin v. State, 881 N.W.2d 51 (Iowa 2016)
Hildebrand v. Cox 369 N.W.2d 411, 417 (Iowa 1985)
Stewart v. Wild, 195 N.W. 266 (Iowa 1923)
Symmonds v. Chicago, M., St. P. & P. R.R., 242 N.W.2d 262 (Iowa 1976)
Iowa Code § 318.1(2013)
Iowa Code § 318.2(2007)
Iowa Code § 318.4(2013)
Iowa Code § 1527-s17(1913)
Iowa Code § 4834(1924)

II. The public duty doctrine should be abandoned.

Alcala v. Marriott Int'l, Inc., 880 N.W.2d 669 (Iowa 2016)
Estate of McFarlin v. State, 881 N.W.2d 51 (Iowa 2016)
Feld v. Borkowski, 790 N.W.2d 72 (Iowa 2010)
Freytag v. C.I.R., 501 U.S. 868 (1991)
Harryman v. Hayles, 257 N.W.2d 631 (Iowa 1977)
Hoyt v. Gutterz Bowl & Lounge L.L.C., 829 N.W.2d 772 (Iowa 2013)
Huck v. Wyeth, Inc., 850 N.W.2d 353 (Iowa 2014)
Jahnke v. Incorporated City of Des Moines, 191 N.W.2d 780 (Iowa 1971)
Kolbe v. State, 625 N.W.2d 721 (Iowa 2001)
Raas v. State, 729 N.W.2d 444 (Iowa 2007)
Strong v. Town of Lansing, 179 N.W.2d 365 (Iowa 1970)
Summy v. City of Des Moines, 708 N.W.3d 333 (Iowa 2006)
Symmonds v. Chicago, M., St. P. & P. R.R., 242 N.W.2d 262 (Iowa 1976)
Thomas v. Gavin, 838 N.W.2d 518 (Iowa 2013)
Thompson v. Kaczinski, 774 N.W.2d 829 (Iowa 2009)
Wilson v. Nepstad, 282 N.W.2d 664 (Iowa 1979)
Iowa Code § 4.2 (2013)
Iowa Code § 318.1 (2013)

Iowa Code § 318.2 (2007)
Iowa Code § 318.2 (2013)
Iowa Code § 319.1 (1971)
Iowa Code Chapter 669 (“Iowa Tort Claims Act”)
Iowa Code § 669.4
Iowa Code Chapter 670 (Iowa Municipal Tort Claims Act)
Iowa Code § 670.1 (2013)
Iowa Code § 670.2 (2013)
Iowa Code § 670.4 (2013)
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 288 (1965)
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 314 (1965)
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 315
Restatement (Third) of Torts § 7
Restatement (Third) of Torts § 14
Restatement (Third) of Torts § 37
Restatement (Third) of Torts § 38
Restatement (Third) of Torts §§ 38-44
Restatement (Third) of Torts § 40
Restatement (Third) of Torts § 41
Restatement (Third) of Torts, Table 2

III. Even if not abandoned, the public duty doctrine does not apply in this case.

Estate of McFarlin v. State, 881 N.W.2d 51 (Iowa 2016)
Harryman v. Hayles, 257 N.W.2d 631 (Iowa 1977)
Hoyt v. Gutterz Bowl & Lounge L.L.C., 829 N.W.2d 772 (Iowa 2013)
Koenig v. Koenig, 766 N.W.2d 635 (Iowa 2009)
Kolbe v. State, 625 N.W.2d 721 (Iowa 2001)
Lamb v. Hopkins, 492 A.2d 1297 (Md. Ct. App. 1985)
Raas v. State, 729 N.W.2d 444 (Iowa 2007)
Schaller v. State, 573 N.W.2d 738 (Iowa 1995)
Schwartz v. Grossman, 173 N.W.3d 57 (Iowa 1969)
Symmonds v. Chicago, M., St. P. & P. R.R., 242 N.W.2d 262 (Iowa 1976)
Thompson v. Kaczinski, 774 N.W.2d 829 (Iowa 2009)
Wilson v. Nepstad, 282 N.W.2d 664 (Iowa 1979)
Iowa Code § 318.1 (2013)
Iowa Code § 318.2 (2013)
Iowa Code § 318.4 (2006)

Iowa Code § 318.4 (2013)
Iowa Code Chapter 319
Iowa Code § 319.1 (1971)
Iowa Code Chapter 670
Iowa Code § 4834 (1924)
10 Ia. Prac., Civil Practice Forms ch. 68 Introduction
Humboldt County, Ia., Ordinance No. 45 (Oct. 25, 2004)
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 314 (1965)
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 315
Restatement (Third) of Torts § 6
Restatement (Third) of Torts § 7
Restatement (Third) of Torts § 19
Restatement (Third) of Torts § 37
Restatement (Third) of Torts § 38
Restatement (Third) of Torts §§ 38-44
Restatement (Third) of Torts § 40
Restatement (Third) of Torts § 49
Restatement (Third) of Torts § 51

IV. Even if the public duty doctrine applies, the doctrine does not impact Plaintiff's claims based on premises liability, nuisance or implied private cause of action arising out of statute.

Estate of McFarlin v. State, 881 N.W.2d 51 (Iowa 2016)
Florey v. City of Burlington, 73 N.W.2d 770 (Iowa 1955)
Gatlin-Johnson v. City of Miles City, 291 P.3d 1129 (Mont. 2012)
Kent v. City of Columbia Falls, 350 P.2d 9 (Mont. 2015)
Ryan v. City of Emmetsburg, 4 N.W.2d 435 (Iowa 1942)
Iowa Code Chapter 657

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court. IOWA R. APP. P. 6.1101(2)(b), (c), (d), and (f). Whether the public duty doctrine should be discarded or, on the other hand, expanded to claims beyond those based on common-law negligence are issues of broad public importance that require resolution by the Supreme Court and present substantial questions of changing legal principles, some of which are issues of first impression. Even if this doctrine is retained, the question of whether it applies to travelers on the road finds conflicting answers in Supreme Court cases and presents a substantial question of enunciating legal principles.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case. This tort action is for personal injuries sustained by Kaitlyn Johnson (“Katie” or “Plaintiff”) when the vehicle in which she was a passenger hit a concrete wall in the right of way of a county highway. (App. 141, 142) Katie alleged her injuries in this accident were catastrophic due to the fault of Sandra Becker and her late husband, Donald Becker, in placing and maintaining the concrete wall in the public right of way as well as the fault of Defendant Humboldt County, Iowa (“the County”), in failing to perform its functions with care and in failing to remove this obstruction from the right of way. (*See Id.* pp.1-15)

Katie appeals from a final order granting the County's motion for summary judgment, denying her motion for partial summary judgment, and dismissing all claims against the County, all on the basis of the public duty doctrine. (App. 326-339; App. 342-343; App. 345-347)

Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the District Court. Katie filed her Petition seeking damages from the County and Defendant Sandra Becker, individually and as the executor of her deceased husband's estate. (App. 001-006)(Katie's claims against Becker are not the subject of this appeal.) With respect to the County, Katie alleged theories of negligence. (App. 004-006) Her petition was amended to add theories of premises liability, common law public nuisance, and public nuisance under Iowa Code chapter 657. (App. 055-059) Her petition was again amended to add a claim based on an implied private cause of action arising out of statute. (App. 151-154)

The County filed a motion for summary judgment seeking dismissal of Katie's claims based on the applicability of the public duty doctrine. (App. 066-067) Katie then filed a motion for partial summary judgment against the County. (App. 113-119) Therein, she asked the court to find as a matter of law that the County had a statutory duty to cause all obstructions in a highway under its jurisdiction to be removed, and that the County breached

its duty by failing to cause the concrete obstruction to be removed. (App. 113-119)¹

After hearing the summary judgment motions (App. 321-324), the district court entered its ruling. (App. 326-339) The court denied Katie's motion for partial summary judgment and granted the County's motion, ruling that Katie's claims are barred, all on the basis of the public duty doctrine. (App. 326-334; App. 338-339)

Katie timely filed a motion seeking clarification whether the district court intended to dismiss *all* of Katie's pending counts against the County. (App. 340-341) The district court clarified that its ruling granting the County's Motion for Summary Judgment pertains to all counts of the second amended petition relating to Humboldt County. (App. 342)

Katie timely filed her Notice of Appeal on November 4, 2016. (App. 345-347)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Construction of Concrete Wall.

This civil action arises out of events set in motion when a concrete wall was constructed in a roadside ditch in 1972 or 1973. At all material times, Donald Becker, now deceased, and his wife, Sandra Becker, resided

¹ Defendant Becker also filed a summary judgment motion, but that is not at issue in this appeal.

at 1673 270th Street, Humboldt, Humboldt County, Iowa. (App. 294; 166) The Beckers lived adjacent to county highway C-49, also known as 270th Street. (*Id.*) When the concrete wall was built, Dale and Lenora Weber, Sandra Becker's parents, owned the land where the Beckers lived as tenants. (App. 186 (Answer to No. 13)) By the time of accident in which Katie was injured, the Beckers owned the property. (App. 186; App. 326)

In 1961, the Webers granted a right-of-way easement in the property to the County. (App. 126-129) The easement ran north from the centerline of the highway 45 feet onto the south side of the Webers' land. (App. 126-129) The easement granted the County a right to possess and control the right of way over the Webers', and later the Beckers', ownership interest. (*See* App. 126-129); *Schwartz v. Grossman*, 173 N.W.3d 57, 59-60 (Iowa 1969) (explaining the rights of a dominant estate in a right-of-way easement are not exclusive, and one who holds the rights of the servient estate may use the easement strip for any purpose not inconsistent with the easement).

In 1972 or 1973, Donald Becker and his father-in-law, Dale Weber, constructed a cattle guard supported by a concrete wall. (App. 186; App. 291 (¶ 15); App. 230). The photograph below shows the concrete wall and cattle guard.



As illustrated in the following image showing the structure from above, the concrete wall was located primarily within the area subject to the County’s right-of-way easement. (App. 223 (admitting blue line in the following photo “truly and accurately marks the location of the north boundary of the County’s right of way”); *accord* App. 230-234)



By reason of the easement, construction within the right of way was prohibited unless preapproved by the County. *See* Iowa Code § 319.12 (1971)(“No... obstruction except signs or devices authorized by law or approved by the highway authorities shall be placed or erected upon the right of way of any public highway.”). Nonetheless, the Beckers did not obtain approval for construction in the County’s right of way. (App. 011 (stating “The Beckers never sought any permits to install or maintain the cattle grid.”); *id.* (stating, “There is no evidence that anybody ever obtained

permission from the County to install the cattle grid.”); App. 187; App. 295 (¶ 19))

The county highway was “blacktopped” in 1970, 1977, and 1996. (App. 189) Despite the obviousness of the concrete obstruction and the hazard it posed to travelers experiencing a lane departure,² the County never required the Beckers to remove this obstruction until after the collision.³

² Statistically, it is not so much a question of whether a roadside obstruction will cause harm, but when. The government has long known that while no one plans to go into the ditch, it happens every day. “A lane-departure fatality occurs every 21 minutes.”(App. 199 (“DRIVING DOWN LANE-DEPARTURE CRASHES”)(2008)). “Lane departure crashes are the single largest category of fatal and major injury crashes in Iowa. The Iowa Department of Transportation (DOT) estimates that 60 percent of roadway-related fatal crashes are lane departures and that 39 percent of Iowa’s fatal crashes are SVROR [single-vehicle run-off-road] crashes (Iowa DOT 2006).” (App. 201 (citing Iowa DOT, Iowa Comprehensive Highway Safety Plan, September 2006, <http://www.iowadot.gov/traffic/chsp/lanedepartures.html>)). The statistics regarding lane departure injuries are even higher than the statistics above regarding deaths, at least when not running into concrete walls.

³ Manuals for maintenance crews instruct on the necessity of removing hazardous right-of-way obstructions:

Eliminating or Improving Hazardous Drainage Headwalls

Headwalls are common features on many local roadways. The headwalls are often used to support the shoulder and maintain the roadway edge, prevent the end of the pipe from being crushed or broken when overridden, collect and disperse water flows and occasionally delineate the ditch or channel. Headwalls, by their nature, are generally rigid structures capable of abruptly stopping a motor vehicle if hit. When they are



This culvert headwall is a roadside hazard.

(App. 217)



This headwall is a roadside obstacle and should be replaced as soon as possible.



The headwall is sticking up almost a foot in a relatively flat recoverable area. It can snag a vehicle and bring it to an abrupt stop or cause it to overturn.

(App. 213) Although the concrete wall no longer served any useful purpose (App. 236:5-9), ongoing advances in technology would have allowed the County to protect travelers from harm even if the obstruction could not have been removed immediately. For example, the Fitch Barrier system has saved 17,000 lives since first used in the 1960's.

(App. 133 (admitting that “[b]etween July 1, 2006 and March 3, 2013, the County did not undertake any action to remove the concrete wall”)) That the County had a statutory obligation to do so is not subject to dispute. *See* Iowa Code § 318.4 (“The highway authority shall cause all obstructions in a highway right-of-way under its jurisdiction to be removed.”); App. 333 (“Humboldt had a general duty to remove the concrete wall because it was clearly an obstruction in a highway right-of-way.”).

After the March 2013 accident, the Humboldt County Engineer contacted the Beckers and caused them to remove the concrete wall. (App. 190; App. 296)

B. The Collision.

On March 3, 2013, a 2006 Chevrolet Silverado pickup driven by Katie’s then husband, departed from its lane adjacent to the Becker’s home, entered the ditch subject to the County’s right-of-way easement, and



See [https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/John_Fitch_\(racing_driver\)](https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/John_Fitch_(racing_driver)) (citing <http://www.racesafety.com/pdf/saltlakatribune.pdf>).

collided with the concrete obstruction. (App. 295) The concrete obstruction did not budge, but instantly stopped the pickup. (App. 295; App. 292 (admitting “upon impact, the cattle grid did not move”); App. 175, 178-179 (§§ 2, 9))

As noted above, Katie was a passenger in the vehicle. (App. 295) The instantaneous loss of forward motion caused by the concrete wall resulted in a sudden change in velocity, known as a “delta V,” of -49.3 miles per hour. (App. 176, 178) (§§ 5, 8) Had the County caused the Beckers to remediate before the collision, the truck would have lost speed more slowly while ramping up the ditch wall, and Katie’s injuries, “[i]f they occurred at all, would have been limited to very minor soft tissue injuries, which would not have been permanent.” (App. 178) As it was, the sudden change in velocity caused a “violent forward motion on the occupant relevant to the suddenly stopped vehicle, followed by an abrupt restraining of the pelvis and torso by the restraint webbing... [before being] thrown violently back into the seat.” (App. 178-179) In short, the concrete wall caused a more sudden change in velocity that enhanced Katie’s damages, resulting in her paralysis, a brain injury, multiple broken bones, and other serious injuries. (App. 175-176, 178, 179) (§§ 3, 5, 8, 9)

Additional facts will be discussed below as necessary.

ARGUMENT

I. Introduction

This case presents issues of profound importance to the protection of travelers on public roads and the accountability of governmental entities responsible for the safety of those travelers. Lest there be any doubt about the role the County plays in the maintenance of the right of way and the safety of travelers on that right of way, a brief review of that role is appropriate to set a context for Plaintiff’s discussion of the significant issues raised in this appeal.

At least as early as 1913, the Iowa Code gave counties the “power to remove all obstructions in the highways under their jurisdiction.”⁴ Iowa Code § 1527-s17 (1913). By 1924, with the introduction of fast-moving automobiles, the legislature became aware that right-of-way obstructions unnecessarily exposed travelers to danger, and so it supplemented the counties’ power to remove obstructions with a *requirement* that counties clear obstructions from their rights of way. *See* Iowa Code § 4834 (1924) (“The board of supervisors and township trustees *shall* cause all obstructions in highways under their jurisdiction to be removed.” (emphasis added)), now codified at Iowa Code § 318.4 (“The highway authority shall cause all

⁴ The County admits that “the concrete wall constituted an ‘obstruction’ as... defined in Iowa Code Section 318.1(4).” (App. 224)

obstructions in a highway right-of-way under its jurisdiction to be removed.”).⁵ See also *Stewart v. Wild*, 195 N.W. 266, 269 (Iowa 1923) (discussing how advances in modes of travel had increased the danger posed by obstructions). While the safety purpose underlying these statutes should be apparent, in 2006, the legislature removed any doubt about its objective in requiring counties to remove right-of-way obstructions by adding the following statement of legislative intent to section 318.2: “The purpose of this chapter is to enhance public safety for those traveling the public roads....” Iowa Code § 318.2 (2007).

As early as 1864, the duty of counties and other municipalities towards travelers was recognized by the Iowa Supreme Court: “Travelers... have a right to hold liable the [municipal] corporation, whose duty it is, by law, to attend to the repair and safe condition of the public highway and every part thereof.” *Brown v. Jefferson County*, 16 Iowa 339, 344 (1864) (upholding judgment against county for injuries sustained by driver of team of horses when bridge forming part of county road fell); accord *Clark v. Sioux County*, 159 N.W. 664, 666–67 (Iowa 1916). With the exception of recent dicta in *Estate of McFarlin v. State*, 881 N.W.2d 51, 61 n.6 (Iowa 2016), that view has prevailed through modern times: “We have consistently

⁵ Contrast *Hildebrand v. Cox*, 369 N.W.2d 411, 417 (Iowa 1985)(amending from “shall” to “may” indicated “permissive rather than mandatory action”).

recognized that governmental units, with respect to highways or streets within their jurisdictions, have a responsibility to the traveling public.” *Symmonds v. Chicago, M., St. P. & P. R.R.*, 242 N.W.2d 262, 265 (Iowa 1976); *see also Ehlinger v. State*, 237 N.W.2d 784 (Iowa 1976) (holding State liable to automobile passenger injured when State failed to remove hazard on public road within State’s jurisdiction).

Against this backdrop of long-standing Iowa statutory and common law, the district court dismissed *all* of Plaintiff’s claims against the County on the basis of the public duty doctrine, extending that doctrine for the first time to travelers injured through the negligence of a county that had failed to maintain a public road and to claims beyond common-law negligence. In the lower court, Plaintiff reasoned, among other things, that the public duty doctrine has no continuing validity after the legislature’s abrogation of governmental immunity and the Court’s adoption of the Restatement (Third) of Torts. The district court rejected these arguments in reliance on this Court’s decision in *McFarlin*. (App. 328-334, 338)

Plaintiff contended below that even if the public duty doctrine has survived other developments in Iowa law, that doctrine does not prevent the imposition of a duty of reasonable care on the County to persons traveling on its highways. The district court held, however, that the County owed a

duty only to the general public, and that under the public duty doctrine, the breach of that duty was not actionable by highway travelers injured by the County's negligence. (App. 329-334)

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