**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**SUPREME COURT NO. 16-1896**

---

**KAITLYN JOHNSON,**

**Plaintiff-Appellant**

**vs.**

**HUMBOLDT COUNTY, IOWA,**

**Defendant—Appellee; and**

**SANDRA BECKER, Individually and as**

**Executor of the Estate of**

**Donald E. Becker,**

**Defendant.**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT  
OF HUMBOLDT COUNTY  
HONORABLE KURT J. STOEBE, PRESIDING JUDGE**

---

**APPELLEE HUMBOLDT COUNTY'S  
FINAL BRIEF**

---

**Rene Charles Lapierre, # AT0004547  
Ryland Deinert, #AT0011159  
KLASS LAW FIRM, L.L.P.  
4280 Sergeant Road, Suite 290  
Sioux City, IA 51106  
lapierre@klasslaw.com  
deinert@klasslaw.com  
712/252-1866  
712/252-5822 Fax

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE PUBLIC DUTY DOCTRINE PRECLUDES PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS AGAINST HUMBOLDT COUNTY.

#### ERROR PRESERVATION

Johnson did not address whether error had been preserved on this issue pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(1). Nevertheless, Johnson timely appealed the Order granting summary judgment in favor of Humboldt County and Humboldt County does not dispute that error has been preserved on this issue.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court reviews a District Court's entry of summary judgment for correction of errors at law. An entry of summary judgment will be affirmed when the entire record establishes that there is no genuine issue of material fact. *Hlubek v. Pelecky*, 701 N.W.2d 93, 96 (Iowa 2005).

#### A. This Court Considered Whether the Public Duty Doctrine Should Be Abandoned.

In her brief, Johnson argues that the Iowa Supreme Court did not consider whether the public-duty doctrine should be abandoned in its recent case, *Estate of McFarlin*, 881 N.W.2d 51 (Iowa 2016). Johnson cites to the Supreme Court's opinion in *Estate of McFarlin* as follows,

The plaintiffs, relying on *Summy*, argue that the public-duty doctrine is inapplicable to the facts of this case *but do not ask us to overrule*

Raas *and* Kolbe and *abandon the public-duty doctrine*. We do not ordinarily overrule our precedent sua sponte.

(Appellant’s Brief, pg. 24.)

The Supreme Court, however, made it explicitly clear that the public-duty doctrine was still viable, alive, and well in *McFarlin*. Furthermore, the Iowa Supreme Court, in the very next paragraph following the paragraph cited by Johnson above, stated that,

We conclude the public-duty doctrine remains good law after our adoption of sections of the Restatement (Third) of Torts.

*McFarlin* at 59. It is apparent to Appellee, and this Court, that the Supreme Court did indeed consider whether the public-duty doctrine should be abandoned, and rejected that consideration, because the Supreme Court explicitly stated it “remains good law after our adoption of sections of the Restatement (Third) of Torts” just a mere 7 months ago.

**B. The Public Duty Doctrine Is Consistent With the Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liability for Physical and Emotional Harm.**

Although the Supreme Court, as mentioned above, explicitly stated that “the public-duty doctrine remains good law after our adoption of sections of the Restatement (Third) of Torts,” Johnson argues in her appeal that the public duty doctrine is inconsistent with the Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liability & Emotional Harm. (Appellant Brief, pg. 25.) In making her argument, Johnson appears to chastise the Supreme Court and how it handled its decisions in *Estate of*

*McFarlin and Alcala v. Marriott Int'l, Inc.*, 880 N.W.2d 699, 712 (Iowa 2016).

Nevertheless, the Supreme Court was correct in its holding in *Estate of McFarlin*, and it should continue to uphold and enforce the public-duty doctrine in this case.

Johnson argues that the public-duty doctrine is a vestige of outdated common law that has no continuing utility under the Third Restatement. (Appellant's Brief, pg. 28.) Johnson, in making her unsupported statement, fails to consider the fact that if there was no continuing utility for the public-duty doctrine than the Restatement (Third) of Torts should have either abolished it or not even mentioned it at all. The Restatement (Third) of Torts, however, mentions the public-duty doctrine and acknowledges that the doctrine is alive and well just as the Supreme Court has done. For example, Section 7 of the Restatement (Third), provides as follows,

*Deference to discretionary decisions of another branch of government.* The "public-duty" doctrine is often explained as preventing government tort liability for obligations owed generally to the public, such as providing fire or police protection. Only when the duty is narrowed to the injured victim or prescribed class of persons does a tort duty exist.

Johnson's statement that there is no continuing utility for the public-duty doctrine after the Restatement (Third) of Torts is not supported by the Restatement itself.

Furthermore, courts throughout Iowa have considered the issue of the Supreme Court's adoption of sections of the Restatement (Third) of Torts and addressed whether there was any conflict with the continued viability of the public-



duty doctrine. As recently as June of 2016, each of those courts, including the Supreme Court, have found that the public-duty doctrine remains “alive and well in Iowa.” See *Estate of McFarlin*, 881 N.W.2d at 59 (quoting *Raas v. State*, 729 N.W.2d 444, 449 (Iowa 2007)). The District Court for Polk County considered the Supreme Court’s adoption of the Restatement (Third) of Torts for cases involving the general duty of care.<sup>1</sup> The District Court in *Wicker v. State of Iowa*, 2011 WL 8342352 (Polk Co. 2011), considered two years after *Thompson v. Kaczinski*, 774 N.W.2d 829 (Iowa 2009), looked at the idea, just as the Supreme Court did in *McFarlin*, regarding whether the Restatement (Third) of Torts and the public-duty doctrine are mutually exclusive. The District Court, in this regard, stated that,

The Iowa Supreme Court has adopted the Restatement (Third) of Torts for cases involving the general duty of care. *Thompson v. Kaczinski*, 774 N.W.2d 829, 834-35 (Iowa 2009). “An actor ordinarily has a duty to exercise reasonable care when the actor’s conduct creates a risk of physical harm.” *Id.* (quoting Restatement (Third) of Tort’s Liability for Physical Emotional Harm § 7(a) at 90). This normally removes the duty question and allows the Court to proceed to the elements of liability. *Id.* It is an exception which the State points to in this case, however. Under this exception, the general duty can be modified or completely displaced where “an articulated countervailing principle or policy warrants denying or limiting liability in particular class of cases.” *Id.* “In such an exceptional case, when the court rules as a matter of law that no duty is owed by actors in a category of cases, the ruling should be explained and justified based on articulated policies or principles that justify exempting [such] actors from liability or modifying the ordinary duty of reasonable care.” *Id.* (internal citations omitted). The

---

<sup>1</sup> Any representation by Johnson that this Court has adopted the entire Restatement (Third) of Torts is inaccurate. (Appellant’s Brief, pg. 28 and 36.)

question today, therefore is whether this is in a category of cases where the general duty is displaced.

*Wicker v. State of Iowa*, 2011 WL 8342352 (Polk County 2011). In *Wicker*, the District Court, citing the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals, went on to state that,

Iowa Courts have long applied the “public duty doctrine” and continue to do so today. See *Dooley v. City of Cedar Rapids*, 2011 WL 1135794, 3 (Iowa App. 2011). Under this doctrine, a governmental body owes no duty of care to an individual when the duty of care is owed to the public generally. *Id.* To recover in such a circumstance, the individual plaintiff must show some kind of special relationship between the government body and the individual plaintiff. *Kolbe v. State*, 625 N.W.2d 721, 729-30 (Iowa 2011)(applying public duty exception suit against State by users of a highway). While the on-going vitality of this doctrine could be questioned in light of the Court’s adoption of the Restatement (Third) of Torts, thereby shifting the foreseeability analysis from the arena of duty to the area of causation, the doctrine appears to this Court to be of the type where an “articulated countervailing principle or policy warrants denying or limiting liability in a particular class of cases.” *Van Fossen v. MidAmerican Energy Co.*, 777 N.W.2d 689, 696-97 (Iowa)(examining Restatement (Third) of Torts § 7). In fact the comments to the Restatement (Third) § 7 discuss the on-going application of the doctrine. Restatement (Third) § 7 cmt. g.

*Wicker* at 2011 WL 8342352.

In this case, there is no dispute that Johnson was a general user of the road. (Amended Petition, ¶ 35) Specifically, Johnson alleges that Humboldt County failed “to exercise reasonable care due travelers on the public highway.” (*Id.*) *Kolbe v. State*, 625 N.W.2d 721, 729 (Iowa 2001) (travelers on the road are not a specific group or specialized class.) and *Wicker v. State*, 2011 WL 8342352

(travelers are “general users of the road.) Johnson was not an invitee and Humboldt County had no special relationship with her. As the Supreme Court noted in *Estate of McFarlin*, “Boaters at Storm Lake, like motorists driving on Iowa roadways, are members of the general public, not a special class...for purposes of the public-duty doctrine.” *See*, 881 N.W.2d at 61.

The public-duty doctrine is alive and well. It should be upheld once again.

## **II. THE PUBLIC-DUTY DOCTRINE IS CONSISTENT WITH THE IOWA MUNICIPAL TORT CLAIMS ACT**

### **ERROR PRESERVATION**

Johnson did not address whether error had been preserved on this issue pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(1). Nevertheless, Johnson timely appealed the Order granting summary judgment in favor of Humboldt County and Humboldt County does not dispute that error has been preserved on this issue.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The Court reviews a District Court’s entry of summary judgment for correction of errors at law. An entry of summary judgment will be affirmed when the entire record establishes that there is no genuine issue of material fact. *Hlubek v. Pelecky*, 701 N.W.2d 93, 96 (Iowa 2005).

### **ARGUMENT**

Johnson argues in her brief that the public-duty doctrine is inconsistent with the Iowa Municipal Tort Claims Act (“IMTCA”). *See* Iowa Code Chapter 670. As

Johnson acknowledges, the IMTCA was enacted in 1967. Since that time, the Iowa Supreme Court has addressed the validity of the public-duty doctrine on numerous occasions, always upholding its validity. The Supreme Court already directly addressed this exact argument in *Raas v. State*, 729 N.W.2d 444 (Iowa 2007). This Court, in *Raas*, stated that,

Our cases decided after the adoption of the State Tort Claims Act continue to recognize the public-duty doctrine, and with the exception of the *Wilson* and *Adam* cases discussed below, they have clearly upheld the continued validity of the doctrine.

The plaintiffs contend that our prior cases of *Wilson*, 282 N.W.2d 664, and *Adam v. State*, 380 N.W.2d 716 (Iowa 1986), cast doubt on the continued validity of the public-duty doctrine. However, in *Kolbe* we distinguished *Wilson* and *Adam* on the basis that the statutes involved in those cases were not aimed at the protection of the public in general (as required by the public-duty doctrine), but to narrow groups of persons, thereby establishing special relationships and making the public-duty doctrine inapplicable. *Kolbe*, 625 N.W.2d at 729. Contrary to the plaintiffs' argument [including in this case], *Wilson* and *Adam* did not eliminate the public-duty doctrine.

In *Kolbe*, we recognized that the public-duty doctrine is still viable despite enactment of the State Tort Claims Act: "Because we conclude there was no ... duty [under the public-duty doctrine], we need not address the immunity issue." *Kolbe*, 625 N.W.2d at 725. Although, as the plaintiffs [including in this case] point out, other jurisdictions have held their tort claims statutes to have abrogated the public-duty doctrine in those jurisdictions, we conclude that both doctrines are alive and well in Iowa.

*Raas* at 448-449.

Nothing has changed since this Court's holding in *Raas* or *Kolbe* that would warrant this Court to overrule *Raas* and *Kolbe*. The Iowa Supreme Court has made

it clear that the public-duty doctrine survived the implementation of the Municipal Tort Claims Act.

### **III. THE PUBLIC DUTY DOCTRINE IS APPLICABLE IN THIS CASE.**

#### **ERROR PRESERVATION**

Johnson did not address whether error had been preserved on this issue pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(1). Nevertheless, Johnson timely appealed the Order granting summary judgment in favor of Humboldt County and Humboldt County does not dispute that error has been preserved on this issue.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The Court reviews a District Court’s entry of summary judgment for correction of errors at law. An entry of summary judgment will be affirmed when the entire record establishes that there is no genuine issue of material fact. *Hlubek v. Pelecky*, 701 N.W.2d 93, 96 (Iowa 2005).

#### **ARGUMENT**

Johnson’s argument that the public-duty doctrine is inapplicable to this case ignores that the Supreme Court has stated that the general duty can be modified or completely displaced where, “an articulated countervailing principle or policy warrants denying or limiting liability in a particular class of cases.” *Thompson v.*

*Kaczinski*, 774 N.W.2d 829, 834-35 (Iowa 2009).<sup>2</sup> And, when the Court rules as a “matter of law that no duty is owed by actors in a category of cases, the ruling should be explained and justified based on articulated policies or principles that justify exempting [such] actors from liability or modifying the ordinary duty of reasonable care.” *Id.* Johnson also ignores the *Thompson* ruling in this regard, which shows that the public-duty doctrine is still alive even after *Thompson*.

Although not directly addressed by Johnson, the issue has been raised that precedent in Iowa establishes that the government has a duty to ensure that roads are made safe. However, what that argument fails to address is that Iowa precedent is also clear that “rightful users of the roads” are not a specific class and do not share a special relationship for the purposes of the public-duty doctrine. *See Estate of McFarlin*, 881 N.W.2d at 61; *see also Kolbe*, 625 N.W.2d at 728-30. Despite counsel for Johnson’s description of *Estate of McFarlin* as a “paper tiger” with little applicability to the present case, the reality is that this Court’s ruling in *McFarlin* is directly applicable to this case. (App. p. 302:3-6.) Similar to the Plaintiffs in *Estate of McFarlin*, public roads are open to the general public to “traverse...freely and come and go as they please.” *Estate of McFarlin*, 881

---

<sup>2</sup> It is being argued by Appellant and the Iowa Association of Justice that the public-duty doctrine is inconsistent with the Supreme Court’s ruling in *Thompson v. Kaczinski*, 774 N.W.2d 829 (Iowa 2009). The Supreme Court in *Estate of McFarlin v. State*, 881 N.W.2d 51 (Iowa 2016) considered the *Thompson* ruling and still held that the public-duty doctrine is alive in Iowa.

N.W.2d at 61. As discussed in *Estate of McFarlin*, a key factor in rejecting the applicability of the public-duty doctrine in *Summy* was that the City was operating the golf course as a business and invitees paid for the use of the course. *Id.* at 60. In the present case, Johnson was specifically pay for the use of the public road and therefore did have a special relationship with Humboldt County.

In this case, Johnson, in trying to assert or impute liability to Humboldt, based on the premise “all persons on roadways are foreseeable victims of a driver falling asleep and driving across the on-coming lane of traffic and crashing into the ditch on the opposite side of the road. *See, Wicker* at 2011 WL 8342352.

Additionally, under Johnson’s theory, the County (or State or any other governmental entity) would have unlimited potential liability if a finding of a duty is owed to Johnson.

Johnson, or her ex-husband, should not have even been driving in the ditch on the opposite side of the highway. Johnson, or her ex-husband, should not have been in the vehicle if her ex-husband was too tired to drive. While Humboldt County certainly has sympathy for Johnson, the law in Iowa is clear that Johnson does not share a special relationship with Humboldt County, therefore no duty attaches. *See Estate of McFarlin*, 881 N.W.2d at 61; *see also Kolbe*, 625 N.W.2d at 728-30.

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